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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section  21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All
statements, other than statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our
strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are
forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,”
“target,” “potential,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and our actual results could differ materially from the results
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, our ability to raise additional capital to support our manufacturing operations and other
operations, our ability to develop products of commercial value and to identify the outcome of research and development activities, our
reliance on third-parties, the timing of completion of construction of the planned manufacturing facility in Kansas, our ability to
successfully operate a manufacturing facility, competitive developments, the effect of current and future legislation and regulation and
regulatory actions, as well as other risks described more fully in this Quarterly Report on Form  10-Q and our other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Readers are cautioned that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and
are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict, including those identified below, under Part  II, Item 1A.
“Risk Factors” and elsewhere herein and those identified under Part  I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on April 26, 2024 (the “2023 Annual Report”). Therefore, actual results may differ materially and
adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking
statements for any reason.

As a result of these and other factors, we may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking
statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. We do not assume any obligation to update any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

NOTE REGARDING COMPANY REFERENCES

Throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, “Scorpius”, “NightHawk,” “NightHawk Biosciences,” “the Company,” “we”, “us”, and
“our” refer to Scorpius Holdings, Inc.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.       FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SCORPIUS HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

     June 30,  December 31, 
2024      2023

(unaudited)
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,472,112 $ 184,925
Short-term investments   34,424   2,206,555
Accounts receivable   1,319,618   375,192
Contingent consideration receivable, related party — 268,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   557,855   817,029
Inventory   70,827   909,158

Total Current Assets   3,454,836   4,760,859

Property and Equipment, net   15,239,066   17,587,337

Operating lease right-of-use asset 5,475,951 6,041,439
Finance lease right-of-use asset 19,317,122 20,473,742
Other assets   203,135   203,135
Deposits   277,737   251,115
Contingent earn-out receivable, related party 2,720,000 1,720,000

Total Assets $ 46,687,847 $ 51,037,627

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity          

Current Liabilities          
Accounts payable $ 3,796,793 $ 4,109,947
Deferred revenue, current portion   2,197,239   2,359,441
Operating lease liability, current portion 451,513 524,208
Finance lease liability, current portion 900,321 904,681
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   2,735,403   2,201,861
Non-convertible promissory note payable, related party   740,000 —

Total Current Liabilities   10,821,269   10,100,138

Long Term Liabilities          
Convertible promissory note payable, related party   1,940,000   —
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 226,500 30,000
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   3,288,323   3,597,014
Financing lease liability, net of current portion   8,551,199   9,016,140

Total Liabilities   24,827,291   22,743,292

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14 and 15)          

Stockholders' Equity          
Common stock, $0.0002 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized, 493,268 and 131,097 shares issued and outstanding at
June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively   99   26
Additional paid-in capital   293,187,709   285,718,456
Accumulated deficit   (267,663,224)   (254,370,827)
Accumulated other comprehensive income   87,169   48,877

Total Stockholders' Equity   25,611,753   31,396,532
Non-Controlling Interest   (3,751,197)   (3,102,197)
Total Stockholders' Equity   21,860,556   28,294,335

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 46,687,847 $ 51,037,627

All share numbers have been adjusted for the one to two-hundred reverse stock split effective July 17, 2024

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SCORPIUS HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2024      2023      2024      2023     
Revenue $ 759,944 $ 657,778 $ 4,273,892 $ 1,423,678

Operating expenses:      
Cost of revenues 837,937 383,692 1,776,149 995,432
Research and development   3,606,621   5,154,072   7,494,966 11,444,827
Selling, general and administrative   5,013,671   7,046,843   10,022,902 13,520,536
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out receivable, related party   —   —   (1,000,000) —

Total operating expenses   9,458,229   12,584,607   18,294,017   25,960,795

Operating loss   (8,698,285)   (11,926,829)   (14,020,125)   (24,537,117)

Interest income   1,146   108,674 18,064 304,668
Interest expense (240,207) (155,782) (489,926) (290,225)
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments 15 (26,001) 995 63,321
Change in fair value of non-convertible promissory note, related party (10,000) — (10,000) —
Change in fair value of convertible promissory note, related party (8,250) — (104,250) —
Gain on partial debt extinguishment 170,000 — 170,000 —
Other income 22,581 — 1,100,003 20,000
Other expense   (520,709)   (147,378)   (606,158)   (180,961)

Total non-operating (expense) income   (585,424)   (220,487)   78,728   (83,197)

Net loss before income taxes from continuing operations   (9,283,709)   (12,147,316)   (13,941,397)   (24,620,314)
Income tax benefit   —   571,120   —   571,120
Net loss from continuing operations   (9,283,709)   (11,576,196)   (13,941,397)   (24,049,194)
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax benefit — (2,385,506) — (2,807,643)
Net loss (9,283,709) (13,961,702) (13,941,397) (26,856,837)
Net loss - non-controlling interest   (408,861)   (69,686)   (649,000) (180,175)
Net loss attributable to Scorpius Holdings, Inc. (8,874,848) (13,892,016) $ (13,292,397) $ (26,676,662)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted   328,979   130,237 234,936 130,047

Net loss per share, basic and diluted - continuing operations $ (26.98) $ (88.35) $ (56.58) $ (183.54)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted - discontinued operations — (18.32) — (21.59)
Net loss per common share attributable to Scorpius Holdings, Inc., basic and diluted $ (26.98) $ (106.67) $ (56.58) $ (205.13)

Comprehensive loss                 
Net loss $ (9,283,709) $ (13,961,702) $ (13,941,397) $ (26,856,837)
Unrealized (loss)  gain on foreign currency translation   (42,706)   21,075 38,292 53,038

Total comprehensive loss   (9,326,415)   (13,940,627)   (13,903,105)   (26,803,799)
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest   (408,861)   (69,686)   (649,000)   (180,175)
Comprehensive loss - Scorpius Holdings, Inc. $ (8,917,554) $ (13,870,941) $ (13,254,105) $ (26,623,624)

All share numbers have been adjusted for the one to two-hundred reverse stock split effective July 17, 2024

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement
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SCORPIUS HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024
Accumulated

Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'

     Stock      APIC      Deficit      Income      Interest      Equity
Balance at March 31, 2024 $ 36 $ 287,258,281 $ (258,788,376) $ 129,875 $ (3,342,336) $ 25,257,480
Stock-based compensation — 249,209 — — — 249,209
Issuance of common stock from public offering 63 5,680,219 — — — 5,680,282
Other comprehensive income — — — (42,706) —   (42,706)
Net loss   — — (8,874,848) — (408,861)  (9,283,709)
Balance at June 30, 2024   $ 99   $ 293,187,709   $ (267,663,224)  $ 87,169   $ (3,751,197)  $ 21,860,556

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024
     Accumulated

Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'

     Stock      APIC      Deficit      Income      Interest      Equity
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 26 $ 285,718,456 $ (254,370,827) $ 48,877 $ (3,102,197) $ 28,294,335
Issuance of common stock - ESPP — 12,904 — — — 12,904
Stock-based compensation — 533,087 — — — 533,087
At-the-market sale   — 8,052 — — —   8,052
Issuance of common stock from public offering   73 6,915,210 — — — 6,915,283
Other comprehensive income   — — — 38,292 —   38,292
Net loss   — — (13,292,397) — (649,000)  (13,941,397)
Balance at June 30, 2024   $ 99   $ 293,187,709   $ (267,663,224)  $ 87,169   $ (3,751,197)  $ 21,860,556

All share numbers have been adjusted for the one to two hundred reverse stock split effective July 17, 2024

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SCORPIUS HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023
     Accumulated

Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'

     Stock      APIC      Deficit      (Loss) Income      Interest      Equity
Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 25 $ 283,790,274 $ (221,938,306) $ 83,887 $ (1,596,668) $ 60,339,212
Stock-based compensation   —   668,810   —   —   —   668,810
Other comprehensive income — — — 21,075 — 21,075
Net loss   —   —   (13,892,016)  —   (69,686)  (13,961,702)
Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 25   $ 284,459,084   $ (235,830,322)  $ 104,962   $ (1,666,354)  $ 47,067,395

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023
     Accumulated

Other Total
Common Accumulated Comprehensive Non-Controlling Stockholders'

     Stock      APIC      Deficit      Income      Interest      Equity
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 25 $ 283,024,557 $ ($ 209,153,659) $ 51,924 $ (1,486,179) $ 72,436,668
Stock-based compensation   —   1,434,527   —   —   —   1,434,527
Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   53,038   —   53,038
Net loss   —   —   (26,676,662)  —   (180,175)  (26,856,837)
Balance at June 30, 2023   $ 25   $ 284,459,084   $ (235,830,322)  $ 104,962   $ (1,666,354)  $ 47,067,395

All share numbers have been adjusted for the one to two-hundred reverse stock split effective July 17, 2024

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SCORPIUS HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended
June 30, 

     2024      2023
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net loss $ (13,941,397) $ (26,856,837)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization   3,635,897   2,935,067
Amortization of intangible asset — 727,500
Noncash lease expense 184,101 218,551
Stock-based compensation 533,086 1,434,527
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   —   109,500
Change in fair value of contingent earn-out receivable, related party (1,000,000) —
Change in fair value of non-convertible promissory note, related party 10,000 —
Change in fair value of convertible promissory note, related party   104,250   —
Gain on partial extinguishment of debt   (170,000)   —
Unrealized loss on investments (995)   (63,321)
Deferred tax liability — (571,120)

Increase (decrease) in cash arising from changes in assets and liabilities    
Accounts receivable   (1,945,104)   (179,321)
Other assets   —   (193,124)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   258,680   217,463
Inventory 838,331 —
Grant receivable — 1,524,522
Right-of-use assets   —   386,336
Deposits (26,622) 60,376
Accounts payable   (313,048)   (2,101,841)
Deferred revenue   34,298   1,116,216
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   575,902   (767,835)

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities   (11,222,621)   (22,003,341)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities          
Purchase of short-term investments   (682,648)   (340,380)
Sale of intellectual property license 1,000,000 —
Sale of short-term investments 2,855,775 23,514,465
Purchases of property and equipment (695,700) (1,036,623)
Disposal of property and equipment 564,692 184,528

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities   3,042,119   22,321,990

Cash Flows from Financing Activities          
Proceeds from  issuance of convertible promissory note, related party   2,253,750   —
Proceeds from issuance of non-convertible promissory note, related party 750,000   —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 7,631,381 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock through at-the-market   8,399 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants   178,424   —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under ESPP 12,904 —
Stock issuance costs (894,868) —
Repayments of principal under finance lease (469,299) (2,915,654)

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities   9,470,691   (2,915,654)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (3,002)   (865)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents   1,287,187   (2,597,870)

Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning of the Period   184,925   8,434,554

Cash and Cash Equivalents – End of the Period $ 1,472,112 $ 5,836,684

Supplemental Disclosure for Cash Flow Information:          
Right-of-use assets surrendered upon financing lease modifications $ — $ (3,092,408)
Right-of-use assets surrendered upon operating lease modifications $ (85,226) $ 7,789,655

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable $ — $ 373,127

All share numbers have been adjusted for the one to two-hundred reverse stock split effective July 17, 2024

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

Effective February 6, 2024, NightHawk Biosciences, Inc. changed its name to Scorpius Holdings, Inc. (the “Company” or “Scorpius”) by
filing a Certificate of Amendment (the “Certificate of Amendment”) to its Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with
the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial reporting. Certain information or footnote disclosures normally included in
the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed, or omitted, pursuant to the rules  and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). In the opinion of the Company’s management, these financial
statements include all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for the fair statement of the results for the interim periods presented. The
results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other
interim period or for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024.

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 are unaudited. The balance
sheet as of December 31, 2023 is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements as of that date. These financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes contained in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on April 26, 2024 (the “2023 Annual Report”).

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
include the accounts of Scorpius Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, Pelican Therapeutics, Inc. (“Pelican”), Heat Biologics I, Inc. (“Heat
I”), Heat Biologics III, Inc. (“Heat III”), Heat Biologics IV, Inc. (“Heat IV”), Heat Biologics GmbH, Heat Biologics Australia Pty Ltd.,
Zolovax, Inc., Skunkworx Bio, Inc. (formerly known as Delphi Therapeutics, Inc.), Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. (“Scorpius”)
(formerly Scorpion Biological Services, Inc), Blackhawk Bio, Inc., and Abacus Biotech, Inc. The functional currency of the entities located
outside the United States of America (the foreign entities) is the applicable local currency of the foreign entities. Assets and liabilities of the
foreign entities are translated at period-end exchange rates. Statement of operations accounts are translated at the average exchange rate
during the period. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments are included in other comprehensive loss, which is a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. At June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company held an 85% controlling interest in Pelican and a 94%
controlling interest in Scorpius. The Company accounts for its less than 100% interest in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, the
Company presents non-controlling interest as a component of stockholders’ equity on its consolidated balance sheets and reports non-
controlling interest net loss under the heading “net loss – non-controlling interest” on its consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Unless otherwise noted, amounts and disclosure throughout the Notes to the consolidated financial statements are related to the Company’s
continuing operations and have been adjusted to reflect the one for two-hundred reverse stock split that was effective July 17, 2024.

Going Concern Uncertainty

The Company has an accumulated deficit of approximately $267.7 million as of June 30, 2024 and a net loss before income taxes from
continuing operations of approximately $13.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and has not generated significant revenue or
positive cash flows from operations. The Company expects its expenses to increase in connection with its ongoing activities, particularly as
the Company ramps up operations in its in-house bioanalytic, process development and manufacturing facility in San Antonio, TX, which
is now its main focus. In addition, any new business ventures that the Company may engage in are likely to require commitments of capital.
Accordingly, the Company will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with its planned operations. Adequate additional
financing may not be available to the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company is unable to generate sufficient revenue from
operations and raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, it would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate its
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programs, any future commercialization efforts or the manufacturing services it plans to provide. To meet its capital needs, the Company
intends to continue to consider multiple alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings such as sales of its common
stock, debt financings, equipment sales leasebacks, partnerships, grants, funding collaborations and other funding transactions, if any are
available. On May 16, 2024, the Company closed a public offering and raised net proceeds of $5.4 million in its public offering. As of June
30, 2024, the Company had approximately $1.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company will need
to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability, and it may never do so. As a result of these circumstances, management has
determined that there is substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated
interim financial statements are issued.

Risk and Uncertainties

The Company’s future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect the Company’s future
operating results and cause actual results to vary materially from expectations include, but are not limited to, a small customer base with
mostly short-term contracts, uncertainty of market acceptance of the Company’s service offerings, market competition from similar and
larger sized CDMO companies, competitive pricing pressure, and dependence on key individuals and sole source suppliers.

The Company depends on third-party suppliers for key materials and services used in research and development, as well as manufacturing
processes, and is subject to certain risks related to the loss of these third-party suppliers or their inability to supply adequate materials and
services. If third-party suppliers do not supply raw materials on a timely basis, the Company’s manufacturing services may be delayed or
canceled which would adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. If the Company’s suppliers are non-compliant
with the FDA’s quality system regulations or other applicable laws or regulations, the Company would be required to find alternative
suppliers.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all cash and other highly liquid investments with initial maturities from the date of purchase of three months or
less to be cash and cash equivalents.

Short-term Investments

The Company’s short-term investments are equity securities and are carried at their fair value based on quoted market prices. Realized and
unrealized gains and losses on equity securities are included in net earnings in the period earned or incurred.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, useful lives of fixed
assets, contingent earn-out receivable, related party, income taxes, stock-based compensation, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and
estimates used in divestiture accounting. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are capitalized. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method and is based on
estimated useful lives of five years for lab equipment, three years for computer equipment, eight years for furniture and fixtures and
vehicles, and the lesser of the useful life or life of the lease for leasehold improvements.
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Segments

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for
evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. To date, the
Company has viewed the operations and managed the business as one segment.

Contingent Earn-Out Receivable, Related Party

Contingent earn-out receivable, related party is recorded as an asset and represents the estimate of fair value of royalty earnout payments
related to consideration from the divestiture of Elusys Therapeutics, Inc. Contingent earn-out receivable, related party is measured at fair
value using a probability-weighted income approach utilizing significant unobservable inputs including the probability of achieving each of
the potential milestone and royalty payments and an estimated discount rate associated with the risks of the expected cash flows attributable
to the various milestones. Significant increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of success or changes in expected timelines for
achievement of any of these milestones would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value of these milestones, respectively, and
commensurate changes to the associated asset. The contingent earn-out receivable, related party is revalued at each reporting period and
changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Effective as of July 30, 2024, the Company entered into a Note Cancellation and Amendment to Asset and Equity Interests Purchase
Agreement (the “Note Amendment”) of that certain 1% non-convertible promissory note, dated May 1, 2024, in the principal amount of
$750,000 (the “$750K Note”), issued by the Company to Elusys Holdings Inc. (“Elusys Holdings”) and to the Asset and Equity Interests
Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), dated as of December 11, 2023, by and between Elusys Holdings and the Company.
Pursuant to the Note Amendment the $750K Note was cancelled in exchange for an amendment to the Asset and Equity Interests Purchase
Agreement which eliminates the payment of any royalty fees by Elusys Holdings to the Company and instead provides a cash payment to
the Company of $2.5 million on or prior to December 31, 2028.

Cost of Revenues and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Cost of revenues consists of production wages, material costs and overhead, and other costs related to the recognition of revenue. Selling,
general and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related costs for administrators, public company costs, business development
personnel as well as legal, patent-related expenses and consulting fees. Public company costs include compliance, auditing services, tax
services, insurance and investor relations.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses relate to the Company’s investments in additions and improvements to its manufacturing process,
process development, and costs associated with developmental products not yet approved by the FDA as well as costs associated with
bringing developmental products into advanced phase clinical trials as incurred. These costs consist primarily of pre-manufacturing and
manufacturing drug costs, clinical trial execution, investigator payments, license fees, salaries, stock-based compensation and related
personnel costs. Other costs include fees paid to consultants and outside service providers related to the development of the Company’s
product candidates and other expenses relating to the design, development, testing and enhancement of its product candidates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that
reflects the consideration which the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for
arrangements that an entity determines are within the scope of ASC 606, the Company performs the following five steps: (i) identify the
contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance
obligation.
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Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which
the entity expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To the extent the transaction price includes variable consideration, the
Company estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be included in the transaction price using the most likely method
based on historical experience as well as applicable information currently available. Shipping and handling costs associated with inbound
freight are capitalized to inventories and expensed through cost of sales as inventories are sold.

Shipping and handling costs associated with the delivery of products are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally require payment within 30 to 60 days of the invoice date. In
certain arrangements, the Company receives payment from a customer either before or after the performance obligation has been satisfied;
however, the Company’s contracts do not contain a significant financing component. The primary purpose of the Company’s invoicing
terms is to provide customers with simplified and predictable ways of purchasing the Company’s services, not to receive financing from the
Company’s customers or to provide customers with financing. The Company has applied the practical expedient in ASC 606 and excludes
information about a) remaining performance obligations that have an original expected duration of one year or less and b) the transaction
price allocated to remaining  performance  obligations  if the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a
wholly unsatisfied performance obligation.

Grant revenue

The Company recognized revenue from a grant related to the Cancer Prevention and Research Institute of Texas (“CPRIT”) contract, which
was accounted for under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2018-08, Not-For-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Clarifying the Scope
and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made, as a conditional non-exchange contribution.

The CPRIT grant was solely for specific cancer research and covered the period from June 1, 2017 through May 31, 2023, for a total grant
award of up to $15.2 million. CPRIT advanced grant funds upon request by the Company consistent with the agreed upon amounts and
schedules as provided in the contract. The first tranche of funding of $1.8 million was received in May 2017, a second tranche of funding
of $6.5 million was received in October 2017, and the third tranche of funding of $5.4 million was received in December 2019. The
remaining $1.5 million was received in April 2023. Funds received were reflected in deferred revenue as a liability until revenue was
earned. Grant revenue was recognized when qualifying costs are incurred. When grant funds were received after costs had been incurred,
the Company recorded revenue and a corresponding grants receivable until grant funds were received. As of December 31, 2023, all $15.2
million has been recognized and received.

License revenue

The Company had licensed certain provisional patent applications and know-how related to fusion proteins to treat cancer and other
diseases that were not being developed by the Company. Shattuck Labs, Inc. (“Shattuck”) paid the Company an initial license fee of $0.05
million in June 2016 and was obligated to pay the Company fees upon its receipt of sublicensing income, achievement of certain
milestones, and royalties upon sales of commercial products. In March 2023, the Company received a milestone payment of $0.1 million
from Shattuck due to completion of a Phase 1A monotherapy dose escalation clinical trial of SL-172154. On January 29, 2024, the
Company entered into a Patent Rights Sale and Assignment Agreement with Kopfkino IP, LLC (“Patent Agrement”) pursuant to which, in
exchange for $1.0 million, the Company assigned its right, title, and interest in and under the exclusive license agreement it entered into
with Shattuck.

Process development revenue

Process development revenue generally represents revenue from services associated with the custom development of a manufacturing
process and analytical methods for a customer’s product. Process development revenue is recognized over time utilizing an input method
by tracking the progress toward completion by measuring inputs to date relative to total estimated inputs needed to satisfy the performance
obligation. Under a process development contract, the customer owns
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the product details and process, which has no alternative use. These process development projects are customized to each customer to meet
its specifications and typically include only one performance obligation. Each process represents a distinct service that is sold separately
and has stand-alone value to the customer. The customer also retains control of its product as the product is being created or enhanced by
the Company’s services and can make changes to its process or specifications upon request. Under these agreements, the Company is
entitled to consideration for progress to date that includes an element of profit margin.

The transaction price for services provided under the Company’s contracts reflects its best estimate of the amount of consideration to which
it is entitled in exchange for providing goods and services to the Company’s customers. For contracts with multiple performance
obligations, the Company allocates transaction price to each performance obligation identified in a contract on a relative standalone selling
price basis. If observable standalone selling prices are not available, the Company estimates the applicable standalone selling price based
on the pricing of other comparable services or on a price that the Company believes the market is willing to pay for the applicable service.

In determining the transaction price, the Company also considered the different sources of variable consideration including, but not limited
to, discounts, credits, refunds, price concessions or other similar items. The Company has included in the transaction price some or all of an
amount of variable consideration, utilizing the most likely method, only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The actual amount of consideration ultimately received may differ.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue is comprised of contract development and manufacturing organization (“CDMO”) customer deposits received in advance
of the Company’s fulfillment of performance obligations.

CDMO deferred revenue generally represents customer payments received in advance of the Company’s fulfillment of performance
obligations associated with the custom development of a manufacturing process and analytical methods for a customer’s product. As of
June 30, 2024, there was $2.4 million of deferred revenue related to CDMO.

Convertible and Non-convertible Promissory Note, Related Party

The Company accounts for its convertible and non-convertible promissory notes, related party under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging
(“ASC 815”). Under 815-15-25, the election can be at the inception of a financial instrument to account for the instrument under the fair
value option under ASC 825. The Company has made such election for its convertible and non-convertible promissory notes, related party.
Using fair value option, these promissory notes are required to be recorded at their initial fair value on the date of issuance, and remeasured
at each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in their estimated fair value are recognized as a change in the fair value of the convertible
and non-convertible promissory note, in the statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Modification of Debt Instruments

Modifications or exchanges of debt, which are not considered a troubled debt restructuring, are considered extinguishments if the terms of
the new debt and the original instrument are substantially different. The instruments are considered substantially different when the present
value of the cash flows under the terms of the new debt instrument are at least 10% different from the present value of the remaining cash
flows under the terms of the original instrument. If the original and new debt instruments are substantially different, the original debt is
derecognized and the new debt is initially recorded at fair value, with the difference recognized as an extinguishment gain or loss. During
the three and six months ended  June 30, 2024, the Company amended its convertible promissory note, related party and non-convertible
note, related party (see Note 9).
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are primarily comprised of amounts owed to the Company for services and sales provided under the Company’s
customer contracts and are recorded at the invoiced amount net of an allowance for credit losses, if necessary. The Company applies
judgment in assessing the ultimate realization of the Company’s receivables and estimates an allowance for credit losses based on various
factors, such as the aging of the Company’s receivables, historical experience, and the financial condition of its customers.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

The Company’s prepaid expenses and other current assets consist primarily of amounts paid in advance for manufacturing activities,
clinical trial support, contract assets and insurance. Contract assets consist of unbilled receivables.

Inventory

Inventory consists of raw materials inventory and is valued at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out method, or net
realizable value. The Company periodically reviews raw materials inventory for potential impairment, and if deemed necessary, adjusts
inventory to its net realizable value based on the estimate of future use and reduce the carrying value of inventory. No impairment expense
was recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, or 2023.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases,
operating loss carryforwards, and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Deferred tax assets
are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent that utilization is not presently more likely than not.

Warrants

The Company accounts for warrants as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’s
specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in ASC 480 Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to
ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity
classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’s own CommonStock, among other conditions
for equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant issuance and
as of each subsequent reporting period end date while the warrants are outstanding. All warrants issued are indexed to the Company’s
common stock as defined in ASC 815 and meet the equity classification criteria in accordance with ASC 815. Thus, they both achieve
equity classification at inception and were recorded within additional paid-in-capital on their issuance date.

Other Assets

The balance consists of $0.2 million of land option agreements related to the location for a potential Kansas commercial CDMO facility.

Other Income

On January 29, 2024, the Company entered into a Patent Rights Sale and Assignment Agreement with Kopfkino IP, LLC (“Patent
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Patent Agreement, in exchange for $1.0 million, the Company assigned its right, title and interest in and
under the exclusive license agreement it entered into with Shattuck. The $1.0 million payment was received and recorded in other income
in the first quarter of 2024.
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Discontinued Operations

In accordance with ASC Subtopic 205-20, Presentation of Financial Statements: Discontinued Operations, a disposal of a component of an
entity or a group of components of an entity (“disposal group”) is required to be reported as discontinued operations if the disposal group
represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results when the disposal group
meets held for sale criteria. Assets and liabilities of disposal group meeting discontinued operations treatment is presented separately as
held-for-sale. At the same time, the results of all discontinued operations, less applicable income taxes, are reported as components of net
loss separate from the net loss of continuing operations.

Impact of Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-09 - Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures, which requires more detailed income tax disclosures. The guidance requires entities to disclose disaggregated
information about their effective tax rate reconciliation as well as expanded information on income taxes paid by jurisdiction. The
disclosure requirements will be applied on a prospective basis, with the option to apply them retrospectively. The standard is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the disclosure requirements
related to the new standard.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures,
which is intended to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through additional disclosures about significant
segment expenses, including for single reportable segment entities. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The amendments should
be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is evaluating the disclosure requirements
related to the new standard.

2. Discontinued Operations

On December 27, 2023, the Company completed the sale of all of its assets and equity interest in Elusys Therapeutics, Inc. (“Elusys”)  to
Elusys Holdings, Inc., a company controlled by the Company’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and President, Jeffrey Wolf for
approximately $2.5 million before working capital, escrow adjustments and transaction expenses. Total consideration included $0.5 million
of cash received at closing, $0.3 million related to consideration from a one-year convertible promissory note, related party and fair value
of $1.7 million in future payments from Elusys upon the achievement by Elusys of certain financial goals. The gain on the transaction was
approximately $1.5 million.

The Company has separately reported the financial results of Elusys as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023. Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations in the
consolidated balance sheet have a carrying value of $0 as of December 31, 2023.

The Company determined that the disposal group represents a strategic shift that will have a major effect on the Company's operations and
financial results, and has therefore reflected the Elusys Therapeutics business as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. Details
of the loss from discontinued operations included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations are as follows:
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Six Months Ended
June 30, 2023

Operating expenses:  
Research and development 1,283,982
Selling, general and administrative   693,211
Amortization of intangible assets   727,500
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 109,500

Total operating expenses   2,814,193

Loss from operations   (2,814,193)

Other  income   (6,550)
Total non-operating gain   (6,550)

Net loss from discontinued operations before income taxes   (2,807,643)
Income tax expense   —
Net loss from discontinued operations $ (2,807,643)

The cash flows related to discontinued operations have not been segregated and are included in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Total operating, investing and financing cash flows of discontinued operations for the period ended June 30, 2023 are comprised of the
following:

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2023

Total net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations $ (917,492)
Total net cash used in investing activities from discontinued operations $ 5,581

3. Acquisitions

Pelican Therapeutics

In 2017, the Company consummated the acquisition of 80% of the outstanding equity of Pelican, a related party, and Pelican became a
majority owned subsidiary of the Company. During the quarter ended March 31, 2018, cash consideration of approximately $300,000 was
distributed to the participating Pelican stockholders and the remainder of approximately $200,000 for certain Pelican liabilities not satisfied
was recognized as other income in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the period. In October 2018, the Company
entered into an agreement with the University of Miami (“UM”) whereby UM exchanged its shares of stock in the Company’s subsidiaries,
Heat I, Inc. and Pelican. The stock exchange resulted in the Company increasing its controlling ownership in Pelican from 80% to 85%.

Under the agreement, the Company was also obligated to make future payments based on the achievement of certain clinical and
commercialization milestones, as well as low single digit royalty payments and payments upon receipt of sublicensing income. However,
due to the discontinuation of PTX-35 no future milestone payments are expected to be made. The goodwill and in-process R&D resulting
from the acquisition were fully impaired as of December 31, 2022.

Elusys Therapeutics

On April 18, 2022 (“Closing Date”), the Company closed on the acquisition of Elusys. The Company acquired Elusys to expand its role in
the biodefense space, complementing its focus to target emerging biological threats. The fair value of the purchase consideration was
approximately $42.9 million. The purchase price was allocated to the underlying assets and liabilities based on their fair value at the date of
acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill recorded for this transaction was valued at $3.9 million and is deductible for tax purposes over 15 years.
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The Company initially expected to leverage the capabilities of its planned Scorpius biomanufacturing facility in Manhattan, Kansas, to
manufacture Elusys’s therapies internally and therefore benefit from significant operating synergies, cost savings, as well as enhanced
oversight, quality control, and speed to market.  However, the Company was unable to manufacture the Elusys’ therapies internally.   In
addition, the Company has been unable to generate sufficient revenue from its current manufacturing facility or raise sufficient capital to
enable it to build the biomanufacturing facility in Manhattan, Kansas and instead had been required to place contract with third parties for
the manufacture of the Elusys’ therapies.

On December 27, 2023, the Company completed the sale of all of its assets and equity interests in Elusys Therapeutics to Elusys Holdings,
a company controlled by the Company’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and President, Jeffrey Wolf for approximately $2.5 million
before working capital, escrow adjustments and transaction expenses. Net of contractual payments paid to the previous shareholders of
Elusys subsequent to the Closing Date, the Company generated a gain of approximately $1.5 million on the sale. See Note 2-Discontinued
Operations and Note 15-Commitments and Contingencies.

4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

As a basis for determining the fair value of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, the Company utilizes a three-tier fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level I – Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level II  – Observable inputs, other than Level I prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially
the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level III – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the entire fair value
measurement requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or liability. The Company’s cash
equivalents are classified within Level I of the fair value hierarchy.

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, and accrued expenses
approximated their carrying values because of the short-term nature of these assets or liabilities. The Company’s short-term investments
consist of Level I securities which are comprised of highly liquid money market funds. The estimated fair value of the short-term
investments was based on quoted market prices. There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the quarters ended June
30, 2024 or 2023.

The fair value of financial instruments measured on a recurring basis is as follows:

As of June 30, 2024
Description      Total      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3
Assets:
Short-term investments $ 34,424 $ 34,424   $ —   $ —
Contingent earn-out receivable, related party $ 2,720,000 $ — $ — $ 2,720,000
Liability:
Non-convertible promissory note, related party $ 740,000 $ — $ — 740,000
Convertible promissory note, related party $ 1,940,000 $ — $ — $ 1,940,000
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As of December 31, 2023
Description      Total      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3
Assets:
Short-term investments $ 2,206,555 $ 2,206,555   $ —   $ —
Contingent consideration receivable, related party $ 268,000 $ —   $ — $ 268,000
Contingent earn-out receivable, related party $ 1,720,000 $ —   $ — $ 1,720,000

The following tables summarize the change in fair value, as determined by Level 3 inputs, for all assets and liabilities using unobservable
Level 3 inputs for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Contingent
Earn-out Rec., Promissory Note,

     Related Party      Related Party
Balance at March 31, 2024 2,720,000 2,081,750
Issuance of non-convertible promissory note, related party — 750,000
Gain on partial extinguishment — (170,000)
Change in fair value — 18,250
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 2,720,000 $ 2,680,000

Contingent Contingent
Consideration Rec., Earn-out Rec., Promissory Note,

     Related Party      Related Party Related Party
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 268,000 $ 1,720,000 $ —
Issuance of non-convertible promissory note, related party — — 750,000
Issuance of convertible promissory note, related party (268,000) — 1,985,750
Gain on partial extinguishment — — (170,000)
Change in fair value — 1,000,000 114,250
Balance at June 30, 2024 $ — $ 2,720,000 $ 2,680,000

Contingent 
Consideration

Balance at March 31, 2023 $ 11,234,114
Change in fair value 1,100,000
Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 12,334,114

Contingent 
Consideration

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 12,224,614
Change in fair value 109,500
Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 12,334,114

Adjustments associated with the change in fair value of contingent earn-out, related party, convertible promissory note, related party, and
contingent consideration are included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

The following table presents quantitative information about the inputs and valuation methodologies used for the Company’s fair value
measurements of contingent consideration classified as Level 3  as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:
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As of June 30, 2024
Valuation  Significant  Weighted Average 

      Methodology       Unobservable Input       (range, if applicable)

Contingent earn-out receivable, related party Discounted
cash flow
analysis

Timing of expected payments 2026-2029

Discount rate 15.0%
Future revenue projections $ 153.2 million

Minimum earn-out payment 3% or $5 million
Earn-out through December 31, 2028

Convertible promissory note, related party Discounted
cash flow
analysis

Maturity term 1.2 years

Market interest rate 14.8%
Principal amount $ 2.25 million

Non-convertible promissory note, related party Discounted
cash flow
analysis

Market interest rate 15.3%

Principal amount $ 0.8 million
Maturity term 1 month

As of December 31, 2023
Valuation  Significant  Weighted Average 

      Methodology       Unobservable Input       (range, if applicable)

Contingent consideration receivable, related party

Discounted
cash flow
analysis

Maturity term 1 year

Market interest rate 14.7%
Principal amount $ 2.25 million

Contingent earn-out receivable, related party

Discounted
cash flow
analysis

Timing of expected payments 2026-2029

Discount rate 15.0%
Future revenue projections $ 141.4 million

Minumum earn-out payment 3% or $5.0 million
Earn-out term though December 31, 2028

5. Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments consist of equity securities. The Company holds its securities at fair value as of June 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023. Unrealized gains and losses on securities are reported in the other expense line item in the statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. Short-term investments at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 consisted of mutual funds with fair values of $0.03
million and $2.2 million, respectively.
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6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following at:

June 30,  December 31, 
     2024      2023

Prepaid manufacturing expense $ 161,840 $ 102,761
Contract assets 34,544 120,184
Other prepaid expenses and current assets 320,076 476,233
Prepaid insurance 41,395 96,588
Prepaid preclinical and clinical expenses — 21,263

$ 557,855 $ 817,029

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives
or remaining lease term, ranging generally from three to eight years. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred.

Property and equipment consist of the following:

June 30,  December 31, 
     2024      2023

Lab equipment $ 21,276,431 $ 21,203,534
Leasehold improvements   2,325,999   2,827,289
Computers   886,037   850,211
Furniture and fixtures   277,882   277,882
Construction-in-process   206,061   9,414
Total   24,972,410   25,168,330
Accumulated depreciation   (9,733,344)   (7,580,993)
Property and equipment, net $ 15,239,066 $ 17,587,337

Depreciation expense was $1.3 million and $2.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively,  and $1.1 million
and $2.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.

8. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following:

June 30,  December 31, 
     2024      2023

Accrued marketing expenses $ 1,021,563 $ 1,013,497
Other expenses   310,603 313,254
Accrued preclinical and clinical trial expenses 364,460 405,792
Compensation and related benefits 543,574 332,641
Accrued manufacturing expenses 18,915 97,877
Advance payments received from customers for manufacturing materials 476,288 —
Accrued franchise tax   — 38,800

$ 2,735,403 $ 2,201,861
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9. Convertible Promissory Note, Related Party

Elusys Holdings also, as a post-closing covenant, on January 26, 2024 purchased from the Company a convertible promissory note in the
aggregate amount of $2,250,000 (the “Convertible Note”), the conversion of which is subject to both Elusys Holdings’ election and was
subject to obtaining stockholder approval of the issuance of shares of our common stock upon such conversion,   which stockholder
approval was obtained on July 15, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of this contingent consideration receivable, related party
was $0.3 million. The Convertible Note bore interest at a rate of 1% per annum, mature on the one-year anniversary of its issuance and
converts into shares of our common stock at the option of Elusys Holdings only if stockholder approval of the issuance of such shares of
common stock is obtained prior to the maturity date. The conversion price is equal to $0.39109 (which was 110% of the volume weighted
average price (VWAP) of our common stock for the seven trading days prior to December 11, 2023). Based upon a conversion price of
$78.22, which is 110% of the VWAP of our common stock for the seven trading days prior to December 11, 2023, upon conversion of the
Convertible Note (exclusive of interest), Elusys Holdings would be issued 29,053 shares of our common stock.

On May 1, 2024, the Company issued to Elusys Holdings an amended and restated 1% Note (“the Restated Note”) in the principal amount
of $2,250,000 in exchange for the original convertible note. The Restated Note bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum, matures on
September 1, 2025 and will convert into shares of our common stock at the option of Elusys Holdings only if stockholder approval as may
be required by the applicable rules and regulations of the NYSE American of the issuance of all of the shares of common stock issuable
upon conversion of the Restated Note is obtained prior to the maturity date and any required approval of the NYSE American of such share
issuance is obtained. The conversion price of the Restated Note was equal to 110% of the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of
common stock for the seven trading days prior to December 11, 2023 which was $78.22; however, Section 2(b) of the Restated Note
provided that if we consummated a public financing, subject to certain exceptions, within sixty days of May 1, 2024, the conversion price
would be adjusted to be 110% of the per share purchase price of the common stock in such public financing (with such adjustment only
being made upon the first financing in the event of multiple financings during the foregoing period). Based on the public offering that the
Company consummated in May 2024, the conversion price of the Restated Note was adjusted to $22.00 resulting in the ability to convert
the Restated Note into up to 103,908 shares of common stock (including the principal amount of $2,250,000 and all accrued interest
thereon calculated as of the date of maturity. At the 2024 Annual Meeting, our stockholders approved the issuance of the shares of common
stock issuable upon full conversion of the Restated Note.

10. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock and Common Stock with Warrant Offering

On March 9, 2024, the Company closed the offering contemplated by the Underwriting Agreement that the Company entered into on
March 7, 2024 (the “Agreement”) with ThinkEquity, LLC, as representative of the several underwriters named therein, pursuant to which
the Company issued and sold 50,000 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $30.00 per share for net proceeds of $1.2 million.

On May 16, 2024, the Company consummated a public offering (the “Offering”) of 149,100 units (the “Unit” or “Units”) and 150,900 pre-
funded units (“Pre-Funded Units”) for a purchase price of $20.00 per Unit and for a purchase price of $19.96 per Pre-Funded Unit
(inclusive of the pre-funded warrant exercise price), resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $6.0 million, before deducting
underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. Each Unit consists of (i) one share (the “Shares”) of common stock and (ii) one
warrant (the “Common Warrants”) to purchase one share of common stock (the “Common Warrant Shares”), at an exercise price of $24.00
per share (120% of the offering price per Unit). Each Pre-Funded Unit consists of (i) one pre-funded warrant (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”)
to purchase one share of common stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrant Shares”), and (ii) one Common Warrant. The Pre-Funded Warrants are
immediately exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $0.0002 per share and will remain exercisable until
exercised in full. The Common Warrants will be immediately exercisable for one share of common stock upon issuance for a period of five
years following the date of issuance.
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Per ASC 815, the Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants met the applicable criteria to qualify for equity classification and the
Company applied the relative fair value method to allocate proceeds between the respective warrants and are included in stockholders
equity. The fair value of the Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants when issued on May 16, 2024 were $0.8 and $0.0998 per share,
respectively, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions: 1) estimated volatility of 114% based on
future stock price; 2) expected term of 5.0 years: 3) annual risk-free interest rate of 4.4%; and 4) expected dividend rate of 0%.

Common Stock Warrants

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 299,112 shares of common stock issuable at a weighted average
exercise price of $24.00 per share.  As of  December 31, 2023, the Company had no outstanding warrants.

The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s common stock warrant activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and
2023, respectively.

     Common Stock 
Warrants

Outstanding, December 31, 2023   —
Issued   306,545
Exercised   (7,433)

Outstanding, June 30, 2024   299,112

     Common Stock 
Warrants

Outstanding, December 31, 2022   3,739
Expired   (2,170)

Outstanding, June 30, 2023   1,569

All outstanding common stock warrants are recorded in equity at June 30, 2024, following the guidance established by ASC Topic 815-40.
The Company’s common stock warrants allow for potential settlement in cash if certain extraordinary events are effected by the Company,
including a 50% or greater change of control in the Company’s common stock. Since those events have been deemed to be within the
Company’s control, the Company applies equity treatment for these common stock warrants.

Equity Compensation Plans

The Company maintains various equity compensation plans (“Plans”) with substantially similar provisions under which it may award
employees, directors and consultants incentive and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights and other stock-
based awards with terms established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors which has been appointed by the Board of
Directors to administer the plans.
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Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation:

Stock Compensation Expense - For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recorded $0.2 million and $0.5
million of stock-based compensation expense. For the three and six months ended June 30. 2023, the Company recorded $0.7 million and
$1.4 million of stock-based compensation. No compensation expense for employees with stock awards was capitalized during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Stock Options - Under the Plans, the Company has issued stock options. A stock option grant gives the holder the right, but not the
obligation, to purchase a certain number of shares at a predetermined price for a specific period of time. The Company typically issues
options that vest over four years in equal installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Under the terms of the Plans,
the contractual life of the option grants may not exceed ten years

Fair Value Determination – The Company has used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of its stock
option awards on the date of grant. The Company will reconsider the use of the Black-Scholes model if additional information becomes
available in the future that indicates another model would be more appropriate or if grants issued in future periods have characteristics that
cannot be reasonably estimated under this model.

Stock Option Activity – No options were granted during the six months ended June 30, 2024 or June 30, 2023.

The following is a summary of the stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024:

          Weighted     Weighted
Average   Aggregate   Average
Exercise   Intrinsic   Remaining

Shares Price   Value   Contractual Life
Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2023 32,194 $ 725.86 $ 9,052
Expired   (1,057) 1,929.56
Forfeited   (199) 500.20
Stock options outstanding and expected to vest at June 30, 2024   30,938 $ 686.19 $ 427 7.7 Years
Stock options exercisable at June 30, 2024 24,198 $ 803.73 $ 427 7.5 Years

Unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was $1.4 million as of June 30, 2024, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.8 years and will be adjusted for forfeitures as they occur.

Restricted Stock - Under the Plans, the Company has issued restricted stock. A restricted stock award is an issuance of shares that
cannot be sold or transferred by the recipient until the vesting period lapses. The grant date fair value of the restricted stock is equal to the
closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. There was no restricted stock award activity for the six months
ended June 30, 2024.

The following is a summary of restricted stock unit activity for the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Weighted
    Average

Shares Fair Value
Restricted stock at December 31, 2022 170 $ 644.00
Vested (170) (644.00)
Restricted stock at June 30, 2023 — $ —
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Restricted Stock Units - Under the Plans, the Company may issue time-based Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). RSUs are not actual
shares, but rather a right to receive shares in the future. The shares are not issued and the employee cannot sell or transfer shares prior to
vesting and has no voting rights until the RSUs vest. The employees' time-based RSUs vest pro-rata over 36 months. The grant date fair
value of the RSUs is equal to the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. The Company recognizes the
grant date fair value of RSUs the Company expects to issue as compensation expense ratably over the requisite service period.

The following is a summary of restricted stock unit activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively:

Weighted
Average

Shares     Fair Value
RSUs at December 31, 2023 1,250 $ 236.00
Vested   (50)   236.00
Cancelled   (1,200)   236.00
RSUs at June 30, 2024   — $ —

Weighted
Average

Shares     Fair Value
RSUs at December 31, 2022 — $ —
Granted 1,800 236.00
Vested (250)   236.00
RSUs at June 30, 2023 1,550 $ 236.00

11.  Revenue

Grant revenue

There was grant revenue associated with National Institutes of Health of $0.04 million and $0.05 million during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2024. No grant revenue was earned for the six months ended June 30, 2023.

CDMO revenue

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recognized $0.7 million and $3.5 million in CDMO revenue. All
CDMO revenue was primarily derived from two customers who each represented over 10% of the total recognized revenue. For the three
and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $0.7 million and $1.3 million in CDMO revenue. All CDMO revenue was
derived from three customers who each represented over 10% of the total recognized revenue. These revenues were derived from the
contract liability which was recorded in the prior period as deferred revenue.
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The following table presents changes in contract liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Contract liabilities
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ (2,389,441)

Changes to the beginning balance arising from:
Reclassification to revenue as the result of performance obligations satisfied 4,114,641
Net change to contract balance recognized since beginning of period due to amounts collected (4,148,939)

Balance at June 30, 2024 $ (2,423,739)

Contract liabilities
Balance at  December 31, 2022 $ (1,618,308)

Changes to the beginning balance arising from:
Reclassification to revenue as the result of performance obligations satisfied 1,323,678
Net change to contract balance recognized since beginning of period due to amounts collected (2,439,894)

Balance at June 30, 2023 $ (2,734,524)

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable and contract liabilities (customer
deposits and deferred revenue). Contract liabilities represent customer deposits and deferred revenue billed and/or received in advance of
the Company’s fulfillment of performance obligations. Contract liabilities convert to revenue as the Company performs its obligations
under the contract.

The opening and closing balances of the Company’s accounts receivables are as follows:

Opening on January 1, 2023 $ 81,456
Closing on December 31, 2023 $ 375,192
Closing on June 30, 2024 $ 1,319,618

12. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the periods. Fully diluted net loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of
common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the periods. Common equivalent shares consist of stock options,
warrants, and unvested restricted stock that are computed using the treasury stock method.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, all of the Company’s common stock options, unvested restricted stock units
and warrants are anti-dilutive and therefore have been excluded from the diluted calculation.
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The following table reconciles net loss to net loss attributable to Scorpius Holdings, Inc.:

For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2024      2023      2024      2023
Net loss from continuing operations $ (9,283,709) $ (11,576,196) $ (13,941,397) $ (24,049,194)
Net loss from discontinued operations   —   (2,385,506)   —   (2,807,643)
Net loss (9,283,709) (13,961,702) (13,941,397) (26,856,837)
Net loss-non-controlling interest (408,861) (69,686) (649,000) (180,175)
Net loss attributable to Scorpius Holdings, Inc. $ (8,874,848) $ (13,892,016) $ (13,292,397) $ (26,676,662)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and
diluted   328,979   130,237   234,936   130,047

Net loss per share, basic and diluted -  continuing operations $ (26.98) $ (88.35) $ (56.58) $ (183.54)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted -  discontinued operations — (18.32) — (21.59)
Net loss per common share attributable to Scorpius Holdings,
Inc., basic and diluted $ (26.98) $ (106.67) $ (56.58) $ (205.13)

The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 due to their anti-dilutive effect:

     For the Six Months Ended
2024      2023

Outstanding stock options   30,938   34,290
Restricted stock subject to forfeiture and restricted stock units   —   1,550
Outstanding common stock warrants   299,112   1,569

13. Income Tax

Income taxes have been computed using the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740 “Income Taxes”. The Company
computes its interim provision for income taxes by applying the estimated annual effective tax rate method. The Company estimates an
annual effective tax rate of 0% for the year ending December 31, 2024. The total tax expense or (benefit) during the three months ended
June 30, 2024 and 2023, was approximately $0.0 million and $(0.6) million, respectively.

The Company incurred losses for the six month period ended June 30, 2024 and is forecasting additional losses through the year, resulting
in an estimated net loss for both financial statement and tax purposes for the year ending December 31, 2024. Due to the Company’s
history of losses, there is not sufficient evidence to record a net deferred tax asset associated with the U.S., Australian, and German
operations. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been recorded related to the net deferred tax assets in those jurisdictions.

At June 30, 2024, the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the Company’s effective tax rate.

14. Leases

The Company accounts for its leases under ASC 842, Leases. The Company has determined that its leases for office and laboratory space
without optional terms or variable components are operating leases.
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The Company conducts its operations from leased facilities in Morrisville, North Carolina; San Antonio, Texas; and North Brunswick, New
Jersey. The North Carolina lease will expire in 2030, the Texas lease will expire in 2038, and the New Brunswick leases expired in July
2024. The leases are for general office space, manufacturing space, and lab space and require the Company to pay property taxes,
insurance, common area expenses and maintenance costs.

In June 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement with Durham KTP Tech 7, LLC, to lease a 15,996 square foot facility in
Morrisville, North Carolina to expand its research and development activities. The lease has a term of eight years following the
commencement date and provides the Company the option to extend the lease term for one five year term; however the option to extend
was not included in the ROU asset and liability. It is subject to fixed rate escalation increases and also provides up to $2.4 million for tenant
improvements. The Company recorded an operating lease right-of-use asset of $5.6 million and lease liability of $3.2 million for this lease
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In October 2021, Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. entered into a lease agreement with Merchants Ice II, LLC to lease a 20,144 square foot
facility in San Antonio, TX for general office, laboratory, research, analytical, and/or biomanufacturing purposes. Merchants Ice II, LLC is
a nonprofit entity investing in the building with the intention to encourage development of emerging technologies. As a result, investments
made by both Merchants Ice II, LLC and Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. into the building may qualify and share tax credits under the
New Market Tax Credit (“NMTC”) program. Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. agreed that all investments and expenditures qualifying
under the NMTC (i.e., certain equipment and building improvements) would be purchased by Merchants Ice II, LLC to generate the largest
possible tax incentive and Scorpius would reimburse Merchants Ice II, LLC for these payments. The lease officially commenced on
September 15, 2022. As of June 30, 2024, Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. has reimbursed Merchants Ice II, LLC $24.3 million. There
were no additional reimbursements during the three months ended June 30, 2024. Based on ASC 842, the Company has capitalized $13.2
million of the reimbursements as lab equipment, expensed $0.9 million as supplies and facilities, and $10.2 million has been included in the
finance lease right-of-use asset. In 2023, additional NMTC tax credit payments totaling $3.1 million were received which resulted in a
lease modification. The ROU asset and liability were adjusted to reflect the impacts of the modification. The lease has a term of fifteen
years following the commencement date and provides Scorpius the option to extend the lease term for one fifteen-year term, and one
subsequent ten-year term upon expiration of the first extended term. These options to extend were not included in the ROU asset and lease
liability. It is subject to fixed rate escalation increases and also provides up to $2.4 million for tenant improvements. Scorpius, upon
commencement, recorded a finance lease right-of-use asset of $15.1 million and lease liability of $5.1 million for this lease in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In December 2022, Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. entered into a lease agreement with TPB Merchants Ice, LLC to lease an 8,042 square
foot facility in San Antonio, TX for additional general office, laboratory, research, analytical, and/or biomanufacturing purposes. The lease
has a term of fifteen years following the commencement date and provides Scorpius the option to extend the lease term for one fifteen-year
term, and one subsequent ten-year term upon expiration of the first extended term. It is subject to fixed rate escalation increases and
provides up to $6.5 million for tenant improvements. Scorpius paid the lessor $5.4 million in prepaid rent which rolled-up into the right-of-
use asset upon lease commencement. The lease commenced on May 2, 2023. Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. recorded a right-of-use asset
of $7.8 million and a lease liability of $2.3 million for this lease in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In December 2023, Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. entered into a lease agreement with EastGroup Properties, L.P. to lease a 22,262
square foot facility in San Antonio, TX for general office and warehouse purposes. The lease has a term of five years following the
commencement date. It is subject to fixed rate escalation increases and provides up to $0.1 million for tenant improvements. Scorpius
recorded a operating lease right-of-use asset of $0.9 million and lease liability of $1.0 million for this lease in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Total cash paid for operating leases during the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $0.5 million and is included within cash flows from
operating activities within the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The Company leases furniture and specialized lab equipment under finance leases. The related ROU assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the lesser of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. For the six months ended
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June 30, 2024, there were no new additional finance equipment leases commenced and no right-of-use assets of were recorded, and no
modifications to finance equipment leases were obtained.

The Company’s lease cost is reflected in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss within general and
administrative and research and development as follows:

For the Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2024

For the Six
Months Ended
June 30, 2023

Operating lease cost $ 670,335 $ 688,590
Finance lease cost

Amortization of lease assets 1,156,619 713,539
Interest on lease liabilities 486,177 290,225
Total finance lease cost $ 1,642,796 $ 1,003,764

The weighted average remaining lease term and incremental borrowing rate as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

For the Six
Months Ended
June 30, 2024

For the Six Months
Ended June 30, 2023

Weighted average remaining lease term
Operating leases 5.9 years 7.0 years
Finance leases 11.1 years 13.6 years

Weighted average incremental borrowing rate
Operating leases 9.68 % 9.47 %
Finance leases 10.11 % 9.81 %

Maturities of operating and finance lease liabilities as of June 30, 2024 were as follows:

Operating Leases      Finance Leases      Total
2024 (excluding the six months ended June 30, 2024) $ 396,605 898,627 $ 1,295,232
2025 801,601 1,765,385 2,566,986
2026 828,175 1,679,279 2,507,454
2027 855,510 902,127 1,757,637
2028 883,863 931,290 1,815,153
2029 652,422 961,311 1,613,733
2030 536,933 1,062,262 1,599,195
Thereafter — 8,278,092 8,278,092
Total minimum lease payments 4,955,109 16,478,373 21,433,482
Less: imputed interest (1,215,273) (7,026,853) (8,242,126)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 3,739,836 $ 9,451,520 $ 13,191,356

15. Commitments and Contingencies

In connection with the Merger Agreement for the acquisition of Elusys Therapeutics in April 2022, the Company agreed to pay earn-out
payments for a period of 12 years from the Closing Date equal to 10% of the gross dollar amount of payments received during each one
year period during such twelve year period with respect to any sale, license or commercialization anywhere in the world of ANTHIM® that
either: (a) occurs during the first nine years after the Closing Date in any respect; or (b) occurs thereafter pursuant to any contract,
agreement, commitment or order that is placed, granted, awarded or entered into during the first nine years after the Closing Date. The
Merger Agreement also provides that the Company will remain liable for royalty payments if any buyer of Elusys Therapeutics fails to
satisfy this obligation. Elusys relies on Lonza, a third-party manufacturer, to produce commercial quantities of its ANTHIM® bulk drug
product requirements. Elusys has firm orders with Lonza for future purchases of bulk drug substance, with remaining total non-
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cancellable future commitments of approximately $51.4 million through 2025. If Elusys were to terminate certain firm orders with Lonza
without cause, it will be required to pay for bulk drug substance scheduled for manufacture under its arrangement. This assumed
manufacturing commitment was transferred to Elusys Holdings as part of the Divestiture Transaction.

On January 26, 2024 in accordance with the terms of that certain Asset and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement, dated December 11,
2023, with Elusys Holdings, Inc., Elusys Holdings purchased from the Company a convertible promissory note, related party in the
aggregate amount of $2,250,000, the conversion of which was subject to both Elusys’ Holdings election and obtaining stockholder approval
of the issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock upon such conversion. The Convertible Note was recorded at a fair value of
 $1,985,750 upon issuance and bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum, originally matured on the one-year anniversary of its issuance and
originally converted into shares of the Company’s common stock at the option of Elusys Holdings only if stockholder approval of the
issuance of such shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Note is obtained prior to the maturity date. In May 2024, the
Convertible Note was exchanged for an amended and restated Note (the “Restated Note”). The Restated Note has a maturity date of
September 1, 2025, will convert into shares of the Company’s common stock at the option of Elusys Holdings only if stockholder approval
of the issuance of such shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Restated Note is obtained prior to the maturity date and
any required approval of the NYSE American LLC of such share issuance is obtained. The original conversion price of the Convertible
Note was equal to 110% of the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s common stock for the seven trading days prior
to December 11, 2023 which was $78.22. Notwithstanding the foregoing, pursuant to revised Section 2(b) of the Restated Note, if the
Company consummates a public financing, subject to certain exceptions, within sixty days of May 1, 2024, and if approved by the
stockholders and the NYSE American LLC, the conversion price shall be adjusted to be 110% of the per share purchase price of the
common stock in such public financing. Based upon the public offering consummated in May 2024, and if approved by the stockholders
(which stockholder approval was obtained on July 15,2024) and the NYSE American LLC, the conversion price of the Restated Note
would be $22.00 and Elusys Holdings would be issued 106,908 shares of the Company’s common stock upon conversion of the Restated
Note on its maturity date . The cash proceeds for the Convertible Note were received on January 26, 2024.

16. Subsequent Events

On August 19, 2024, the Company consummated a public offering (the “August Offering”) of 2,428,000 common shares and 11,947,000
pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 11,947,000 shares of common stock (“PFWs”), including 1,875,000 option pre-funded warrants to
purchase up to 1,875,000 shares of common stock (“Option PFWs”) for a purchase price of $1.00 per common share, a purchase price of
$0.9998 per PFW, and exercise price of $0.0002 per Option PFW resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $14.4 million,
before deducting underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. Each PFW and Option PFW is exercisable for of one share of
common stock.

On July 30, 2024, the Company entered into a Note Cancellation and Amendment to Asset and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement (the
“Amendment”) of that certain 1% non-convertible promissory note, dated May 1, 2024, in the principal amount of $750,000, issued by the
Company to Elusys Holdings Inc. and to the Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 11, 2023, by and between Elusys Holdings and the
Company. Pursuant to the Note Amendment the Note was cancelled in exchange for an amendment to the Purchase Agreement which
eliminates the payment of any royalty fees by Elusys Holdings to the Company and instead provides a cash payment to the Company of
$2.5 million on or prior to December 31, 2028.
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ITEM  2.              MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial
statements and related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form  10-Q. The following discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of certain events could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our 2023 Annual Report. This discussion may
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Forward-Looking Statements.” You should review the
disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the 2023 Annual Report for a discussion of
important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

Scorpius Holdings, Inc. is a contract development and manufacturing organization (“CDMO”) that provides process development and
biomanufacturing services to support the biomanufacturing needs of third parties who use its biomanufacturing capacity as a fee-for-service
model through our subsidiary, Scorpius Biomanufacturing, Inc. (formerly known as Scorpion Biological Services, Inc.). Scorpius couples
CGMP biomanufacturing and quality control expertise with cutting edge capabilities in immunoassays, molecular assays, and bioanalytical
methods to support cell- and gene-based therapies as well as large molecule biologics using American-made equipment, reagents, and
materials. We anticipate the prioritization of Scorpius on American-made equipment, reagents, and materials paired with domestic sourcing
of biomanufacturing expertise will make us competitive for U.S. government contracts and biodefense assets. We anticipate this will
successfully support our expansion within the growing CDMO market.

We commenced operations of the leased San Antonio facility in September 2022. In order to promote efficiency and reduce our reliance on
third-party vendors, we have enhanced our in-house development of bioanalytic, process development and manufacturing capabilities and
offer such services to third parties for fees. However, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in these new operations.

We intend to meet our financing needs for the operations of the facility through multiple alternatives, including, but not limited to, cash on
hand, grant funding and incentives, additional equity financings, debt financings, equipment sales leasebacks, and/or funding from
partnerships or collaborations, and additional revenue from our CDMO biomanufacturing facility.

Recent Developments

On August 19, 2024, we consummated a public offering (the”August Offering”) of 2,428,000 shares of common stock and 11,947,000 pre-
funded warrants to purchase up to 11,947,000 shares of common stock (“PFWs”), including 1,875,000 option pre-funded warrants to
purchase up to 1,875,000 shares of common stock (“Option PFWs”) for a purchase price of $1.00 per common share, a purchase price of
$0.9998 per PFW, and an exercise price of $0.0002 per PFW and Option PFW resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of approximately
$14.4 million, before deducting underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. Each PFW and Option PFW is exercisable for one
share of common stock.

On July 30, 2024, we entered into a Note Cancellation and Amendment to Asset and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement of that certain
1% non-convertible promissory note, dated May 1, 2024, in the principal amount of $750,000 (the “Note”), issued by us to Elusys
Holdings Inc., a company controlled by our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and President, Jeffrey Wolf, and an amendment to the
Asset and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 11, 2023, by and between Elusys Holdings and us. Pursuant to the
Amendment the Note was cancelled in exchange for an amendment to the Asset and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement which eliminates
the payment of any royalty fees by Elusys Holdings to us and instead provides a cash payment to us of $2.5 million on or prior to
December 31, 2028.
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On May 16, 2024, we consummated a public offering (the “Offering”) of 149,400 units (the “Units”) and 150,900 pre-funded units (“Pre-
Funded Units”) for a purchase price of $20.00 per Unit and for a purchase price of $19.96 per Pre-Funded Unit (inclusive of the pre-funded
warrant exercise price), resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $6.0 million, before deducting underwriting discounts and
other offering expenses. Each Unit consisted of (i) one share (the “Shares”) of common stock and (ii) one warrant (the “Common
Warrants”) to purchase one share of common stock (the “Common Warrant Shares”), at an exercise price of $24.00 per share (120% of the
offering price per Unit). Each Pre-Funded Unit consisted of (i) one pre-funded warrant (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase one share
of common stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrant Shares”), and (ii) one Common Warrant. The Pre-Funded Warrants are immediately exercisable
for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $0.0002 per share and will remain exercisable until exercised in full. The Common
Warrants are immediately exercisable for one share of common stock upon issuance for a period of five years following the date of
issuance. The representative of the underwriter also partially exercised its overallotment option and purchased 6,545 Common Warrants.

On May 1, 2024, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement with Elusys Holdings, pursuant to which Elusys Holdings loaned us
$750,000 and we sold to Elusys Holdings the Note for $750,000 in cash (which Note was subsequently cancelled as described above) and
amended the Note issued to Elusys Holdings in January 2024 and   issued to Elusys Holdings an amended and restated 1% convertible
promissory note, related party in the principal amount of $2,250,000 (the “Restated Note”) in exchange for that certain prior 1%
convertible promissory note, related party dated January 26, 2024, issued to Elusys Holdings in the principal amount of $2,250,000 to
amend Section 2(b) thereof relating to certain adjustments in the conversion price and extend its maturity date to September 1, 2025. Based
upon such adjusted conversion price and subject to stockholder approval of the issuance of such shares of common stock issuable upon
conversion of the Note and approval of the NYSE American LLC of such share issuance, Elusys Holdings would be issued 103,908 shares
of common stock upon conversion of the Note.

On March 9, 2024, we closed the offering contemplated by the Underwriting Agreement that we entered into on March 7, 2024 (the
“Agreement”) with ThinkEquity, LLC, as representative of the several underwriters named therein (the “Underwriters”), pursuant to which
we issued and sold 50,000 shares of our Common Stock at a price of $30.00 per share for net proceeds of $1.2 million.

On January 29, 2024, we entered into a Patent Rights Sale and Assignment Agreement with Kopfkino IP, LLC (“Patent Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Patent Agreement, in exchange for $1,000,000, we assigned its right, title and interest in and under the exclusive license
agreement it entered into with Shattuck Labs, Inc. (“Shattuck”) in 2016, including our rights to certain provisional patent applications and
know-how related to fusion proteins to treat cancer and other diseases that were not being developed by us.

On January 26, 2024 in accordance with the terms of that certain Asset and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement, dated December 11, 2023
(the “Agreement”), with Elusys Holdings, Elusys Holdings purchased from us the original note the principal of $2,250,000.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

We believe that several accounting policies are important to understanding our historical and future performance. We refer to these policies
as "critical" because these specific areas generally require us to make judgments and estimates about matters that are uncertain at the time
we make the estimate, and different estimates—which also would have been reasonable—could have been used, which would have resulted
in different financial results.

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us
to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and make various
assumptions, which management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, which form the basis for judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.
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Revenue and Deferred Revenue

Process development revenue generally represents revenue from services associated with the custom development of a manufacturing
process and analytical methods for a customer’s product. Process development revenue is recognized over time utilizing an input method
by tracking the progress toward completion by measuring inputs to date relative to total estimated inputs needed to satisfy the performance
obligation.

The transaction price for services provided under our customer contracts reflects our best estimates of the amount of consideration to which
we are entitled in exchange for providing goods and services to our customers. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, we
allocate transaction price to each performance obligation identified in a contract on a relative standalone selling price basis. If observable
standalone selling prices are not available, we may estimate the applicable standalone selling price based on the pricing of other
comparable services or on a price that we believe the market is willing to pay for the applicable service.

In determining the transaction price, we also consider the different sources of variable consideration including, but not limited to,
discounts, credits, refunds, price concessions or other similar items. We include in the transaction price some or all of an amount of variable
consideration, utilizing the most likely method, only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The actual
amount of consideration ultimately received may differ.

All other significant accounting policies had no change and are summarized in Note 2 to our financial statements contained in our 2023
Annual Report.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenues. For the three months ended June 30, 2024 we recognized $0.8 million of revenue primarily from process development. For the
three months ended June 30, 2023 we recognized $0.7 million of process development revenue. The increase in process development
revenue is attributable to the completion of services over a larger number of customer contracts.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues were $0.8 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and
primarily consisted of the direct cost of labor, overhead and material costs at Scorpius. The increase in cost of revenues is due to the
expanded service offerings and completed milestone work on multiple CDMO contracts.

Research and development expense. Research and development expenses were $3.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024
compared to $5.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. The components of R&D expense are as follows, in millions:

For the Three Months Ended
     June 30, 

2024      2023
Programs            

CDMO $  3.1 $  3.1
HS-110  —  1.5
PTX-35  —  0.4
Other programs    —    0.1
Unallocated research and development expenses  0.5  0.1

$  3.6 $  5.2

● CDMO expense was unchanged for the two years presented.
● HS-110 expense decreased by $1.5 million due to the elimination of the clinical trial.
● PTX-35 expense decreased by $0.4 million due to the elimination of the clinical trial.
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● Other programs expenses decreased by $0.1 million due to the elimination of the clinical trial.
● Unallocated research expenses increased by $0.4 million primarily due to decreased personnel costs, depreciation expense,

amortization expense and hardware and software costs.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $5.0 million and $7.0 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease of $2.0 million was primarily due to decreases in consultant services of
$1.1 million, professional services of $0.4 million, sales and marketing of $0.2 million, and stock-based compensation of $0.3 million.

Change in fair value of contingent earn-out receivable, related party. For the three months ended June 30, 2024, there was no change in
fair value of contingent earn-out receivable, related party.

Total non-operating income (expense). Total non-operating expense was ($0.6) million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 which
primarily consisted of $0.6 million from the loss on disposal of leasehold improvements, $0.2 million of interest expense on finance leases,
partially offset by $0.2 million from gain on partial extinguishment of debt. Total non-operating expense was ($0.2) million for the three
months ended June 30, 2023 which primarily consisted of ($0.2) million of interest expense, ($0.1) million of loss on disposal of
equipment, partially offset by ($0.1) million of interest income.

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Revenues. For the six months ended June 30, 2024 we recognized $4.3 million of revenue primarily from process development services.
For the six months ended June 30, 2023 we recognized $1.3 million of process development revenue and $0.1 million of license revenue.
The increase in process development revenue is attributable to the expanded biomanufacturing operations and service offerings of the
CDMO.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues were $1.8 million and $1.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and
primarily consisted of the direct cost of labor, overhead and material costs at Scorpius. The increase in cost of revenues is due to the
expanded service offerings and completed milestone work on multiple CDMO contracts.

Research and development expense. Research and development expenses were $7.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024
compared to $11.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The components of R&D expense are as follows, in millions:

For the Six Months Ended
June 30, 

2024      2023
Programs         

CDMO $  6.4 $  6.4
HS-110    —  1.5
PTX-35  —    1.1
Other programs    —    0.6

Unallocated research and development expenses    1.1    1.8
$  7.5 $  11.4

● CDMO expense were unchanged for the two years presented.
● HS-110 expense decreased by $1.5 million due to the elimination of the clinical trial.
● PTX-35 expense decreased by $1.1 million due to the elimination of the clinical trial.
● Other program expense decreased by $0.6 million due to the elimination of other preclinical R&D expenses not associated with

clinical trials.
● Unallocated research expenses decreased by $0.7 million primarily due to decreased personnel costs, depreciation expense,

amortization expense and hardware and software costs.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expenses were $10.0 million and $13.5 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease of $3.5 million was primarily due to
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decreases in consultant services of $1.6 million, professional services of $0.7 million, sales and marketing expense of $0.7 million, stock-
based compensation of $0.7 million, personnel costs of $0.3 million, insurance expenses of $0.2 million, other operating expenses of $0.1
million, depreciation and amortization of $0.1 million, partially offset by increases in facility expenses of $0.7 million and public company
expenses of $0.3 million.

Change in fair value of contingent earn-out receivable, related party. For the six months ended June 30, 2024, the change in fair value of
contingent earn-out receivable, related party was $1.0 million. The change was due primarily to an increase in expected value of the earn-
out due to a new contract received by Elusys Therapeutics.

Total non-operating income (expense). Total non-operating income was $0.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 which
primarily consisted of $1.0 million from the sale of an intellectual property license, $0.1 million from research and development tax credits,
and $0.1 million change in fair value of of convertible promissory note, related party partially offset by $0.5 million of interest expense on
finance leases, and $0.6 million loss on disposal of leasehold improvements. Total non-operating expense was ($0.1) million for the six
months ended June 30, 2023 which primarily consisted of ($0.3) million of interest expense, ($0.1) million loss on disposal of equipment,
partially offset by $0.3 million of interest income.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Sources of Liquidity

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $1.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. As of August
19, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were approximately $13.2 million. On September 18, 2023, our Board
approved a refocus and restructuring plan (the “Plan”) to shed non-core assets and reduce its operating costs in order to refocus effort and
resources on the CDMO and commenced the Plan which included the active marketing of Elusys. Despite the cost savings measures and
the cash received in the offerings, conducted in March 2024, May 2024, and August 2024, management has determined that there is
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated financial statements are
issued. The Company has not yet generated significant revenue from operations and does not anticipate that the Company will generate
sufficient revenue from operations in the near term to sustain its operations beyond December 2024, and therefore the Company anticipates
that it will need to raise capital to sustain its operations. The Company’s ability to generate revenue is impacted by its cash position and its
ability to purchase new raw materials necessary to perform services. As a result, management continues to evaluate the Company’s future
direction, including continuing to explore strategic alternatives. However, there can be no assurance that these strategic alternatives will be
successful. If the Company does not generate sufficient revenue from operations or does raise capital when needed or successfully engage a
strategic partner in the next few months, the Company may be required to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all of its operations, sell
some of our assets, cease operations, liquidate our assets, reorganize the Company, or a combination of the foregoing.

Since its inception in June 2008, the Company has incurred significant losses and the Company has financed its operations with net
proceeds from the private placement of its preferred stock, common stock and debt. Since its initial public offering, the Company has
primarily financed its operations with net proceeds from the public offering of its securities and at-the market offerings, and to a lesser
extent, the proceeds from the exercise of warrants and note issuances. In March 2024, the Company raised $1.2 million in capital in a
public offering, in May 2024 the Company issued the Note for proceeds of $750,000 and raised net proceeds of $5.4 million in a public
offering and in August the Company consummated a public offering and raised net proceeds of $12.8 million. As of June 30, 2024, the
Company had an accumulated deficit of approximately $267.7 million and as of December 31, 2023, the Company had an accumulated
deficit of approximately $254.4 million. The Company had net losses of $9.3 million and $14.0 million for the three months ended June 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Company expects to incur significant commercialization expenses related to its CDMO business. The Company will need to obtain
substantial additional future funding in connection with its manufacturing facility operations if it does not generate sufficient revenue from
operations.

However, the actual amount of funds we will need to operate is subject to many factors, some of which are beyond our control. These
factors include the following:
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● the progress of our research activities;
● our ability to attract customers for our CDMO services and retain current customers
● our ability to timely complete projects within estimated budgets
● the number and scope of our research programs;
● the progress of our preclinical and clinical development activities;
● the progress of the development efforts of parties with whom we have entered into research and development agreements;
● our expansion plans and cash needs of any new projects; and
● additional manufacturing facility construction costs and equipment costs.

The Company has based its estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong. The Company may need to obtain additional funds
sooner or in greater amounts than the Company currently anticipates. Potential sources of financing include strategic partners, public or
private sales of our equity or debt financings, mergers, a sale of the Company, divestiture of assets, a combination of these, or other
strategic transactions. The Company may seek to access the public or private equity markets when conditions are favorable due to its long-
term capital requirements. The Company does not have any committed sources of financing at this time, and it is uncertain whether
additional funding will be available when the Company needs it on terms that will be acceptable to the Company, or at all. Due to the late
filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the late filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2024, the Company is no longer eligible to sell securities of our Registration Statement on Form S-3,
including in at-the-market transactions until June 2025. If we raise funds by selling additional shares of common stock,  or other securities
convertible into common stock, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we are not able to raise additional
funds when needed or engage a strategic partner, the Company may be required to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all of its operations
and we may be forced to cease operations, liquidate our assets, and possibly seek bankruptcy protection.

Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on
attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, our operations. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going
concern for one year after the financial statements are available to be issued. To meet our capital needs, we are considering multiple
alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings, which include sales of our common stock under at-the-market
offerings, if available, debt financings, equipment sales leasebacks, collaborations and other funding transactions. This is based on our
current estimates, and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. We will need to generate significant
revenues to achieve profitability, and we may never do so.  As of June 30, 2024, we had approximately $1.5 million in cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments which does not include the proceeds from the August 2024 public offering. The Company will need
to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability, and it may never do so. Management has determined that there is substantial doubt
about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the consolidated financial statements are available to be
issued.

Cash Flows

Operating activities. The use of cash during the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 resulted primarily from our net losses adjusted
for non-cash charges and changes in components of working capital as well as the commencement of our Scorpius Biomanufacturing
facility. Net cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $11.2 million as compared to $22.0 million
during the same period in 2023. The $10.8 million decrease was primarily due to a decrease in net loss of $13.0 million, an increase in
depreciation and amortization of $0.7 million, a change in deferred tax liability of $0.6 million, a change in other assets of $0.2 million, a
decrease in inventory of $0.8 million, an increase in accounts payable of $1.8 million, and an increase of accrued expenses of $1.4 million,
partially offset by a decrease in amortization of intangible assets of $0.7 million, a decrease in stock-based compensation of $0.9 million, a
change in fair value of contingent earn-out receivable, related party of $1.0 million, a change in fair value of convertible promissory note,
related party of $0.1 million, a decrease in accounts receivable of $1.7 million, a decrease in grant receivable of $1.5 million, a decrease in
right-of-use assets of $0.4 million, a gain on partial extinguishment of debt of $0.2  million, and a decrease in deferred revenue of $1.1
million.
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Investing activities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $3.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to
$22.3 million during the same period in 2023. The decrease of $19.3 million is primarily due the decreased sale of short term investments,
net of purchases of $21.0 million, partially offset by he sale of intellectual property license fo $1.0 million, the disposal of property and
equipment of $0.4 million, and a decrease in purchases of property and equipment of $0.3 million.

Financing activities. Net cash provided in financing activities was $9.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to net
cash used in financing activities of ($2.9) million for the same period in 2023. The increase of $12.4 million is primarily from the proceeds
of the Company’s issuance of common stock, net of stock issuance cost of $6.9 million, the proceeds from the issuance of a convertible
promissory note, related party of $2.3 million, the proceeds from the issuance of a non-convertible promissory note, related party of $0.8
million, and a decrease in repayment of principal on finance leases of $2.4 million.

Current and Future Financing Needs

We have incurred an accumulated deficit of $267.7 million through June 30, 2024. We have incurred negative cash flows from operations
since we started our business. We expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to our manufacturing facility operations
for Scorpius.

ITEM 3.        QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information required
under this item.

ITEM 4.        CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision of and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Disclosure controls and procedures are those controls
and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act filings is (1)
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2024, our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective because of material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that were
reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. The material weaknesses are further described
below.

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Our management concluded that the following material weaknesses existed as of June 30, 2024:

● We identified ineffective information technology general controls in the areas of user access and segregation of duties related to
certain information technology systems that support our financial reporting process. As a result, certain activity level controls
were also deemed to be ineffective that are dependent on information derived from these information technology systems.
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● In March 2023, we determined that we had made certain errors in the manner in which we recognized the deferred tax asset
valuation allowance related to the acquisition of Elusys Therapeutics in which the net losses acquired in the transaction had been
overstated in our quarterly filings for the periods ending June 30, 2022 through September 30, 2022. As a result, we determined
that there were material errors in the financial statements that required a restatement of our Forms 10-Q for the quarterly periods
ended June 30, 2022 through September 30, 2022. This was due to the inadequate design and implementation of controls to
evaluate and monitor the accounting for income taxes.

● We identified a material weakness related to the ineffective design of certain management review controls across a significant
portion of the Company’s financial statement areas, particularly with regard to the precision of the review and evidence of review
procedures performed.

● We identified a material weakness related to the ineffective design and implementation of controls around process development
revenue recognition, specifically, controls over the review of labor hours incurred and expected to be incurred in satisfaction of
our performance obligations.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses

In order to remediate these material weaknesses, we will change certain control activities over financial reporting to include, but are not
limited to, the following: (i) evaluating and implementing enhanced process controls around user access management and segregation of
duties, (ii) expanding the documentation over user access and system controls and enhancing the level of evidence maintained in
management review controls, (iii) enhancing the design of existing controls and are implementing new controls over the accounting,
processing, and recording of income tax and revenue, and (iv) the utilization of external subject matter experts to assist in accounting for
non-routine, complex transactions.

We are committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment and implementing measures designed to help ensure that control
deficiencies contributing to the material weaknesses are remediated as soon as possible.

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses described above, management has concluded that the consolidated financial statements included
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows in
conformity with GAAP.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2024, other than the plan discussed above under “Remediation of Material Weaknesses”, there
were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.       LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in the ordinary course of our business. We
are not presently a party to any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

ITEM 1A.       RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks, together with all the other
information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. If any of
the following risks actually materialize, our operating results, financial condition and liquidity could be materially adversely affected. The
following information updates should be read in conjunction with the
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information disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” contained in our 2023 Annual Report. Except as disclosed below, there have been
no material changes from the risk factors and uncertainties disclosed in our 2023 Annual Report.

To date, we have not generated significant revenue and we do not anticipate generating significant revenue in the near future.

To date, we have not generated significant revenue from our business and substantially all of our revenue has been revenue from lines of
business in which we are no longer engaged. For the six months ended June 30, 2024, we had a net loss of approximately $13.9 million and
for the year ended December 31, 2023 we had a net loss of approximately $46.8 million. We do not anticipate generating any significant
revenue from the provision of CDMO services for several years as we are a new entrant into that line of business. Even if we generate
revenue from the provision of services, which is not anticipated for several years, if at all, there can be no assurance that we will be
profitable. In addition, we have entered into a new line of business, the provision of contract development and manufacturing services and
no assurance can be given that we will be able to generate significant revenue as a contract development and manufacturing organization
(“CDMO”) or that we will be able to consummate our business strategy and plans. Financial, technological, market, or other limitations
may force us to modify, alter, significantly delay, or significantly impede the implementation of such plans. The operation of the
manufacturing facility required us to incur significant expenses before we realize any revenue from such facility. We have insufficient
results for investors to use to identify historical trends. Investors should consider our prospects in light of the risk, expenses and difficulties
we will encounter as an early-stage company. Our revenue and income potential is unproven and our business model is continually
evolving. We are subject to the risks inherent to the operation of a new business enterprise and cannot assure you that we will be able to
successfully address these risks.

If we do not generate sufficient revenue from operations, we will need to raise additional capital to support our long-term business
plans and our failure to obtain funding when needed may force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our development programs or
commercialization efforts.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, our operating activities used net cash of approximately $11.2 million and as of August 19,
2024, our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were approximately $13.2 million. During the year ended December 31,
2023, our operating activities used net cash of approximately $31.5 million and as of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents
and short-term investments were approximately $2.4 million. We have experienced significant losses since inception and have a significant
accumulated deficit. As of June 30, 2024, our accumulated deficit was $267.7 million and as of December 31, 2023, our accumulated
deficit totaled $254.4 million on a consolidated basis. We expect to incur additional operating losses in the future and therefore expect our
cumulative losses to increase. We do not expect to derive significant revenue from our CDMO services until we expand our customer base.
In addition, we expect our expenses to increase due to the operation of the manufacturing facility in San Antonio.

Our current cash is anticipated to be sufficient to fund operations only through December, 2024.  We expect that we will need additional
future financing which may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all

Unless we generate significant revenue from operations in the next few months, we will need to raise additional capital by year end to fund
our operations and we cannot be certain that funding will be available to us on acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all. Our current cash
and cash equivalents, including  the proceeds from our August 2024 public offering, is anticipated to be sufficient to fund operations only
through December, 2024, unless our revenue increases from past historical revenue.To meet our financing needs, we are considering
multiple alternatives, including, but not limited to, additional equity financings, which we expect will include sales of common stock, debt
financings, equipment sale leasebacks, and/or funding from partnerships or collaborations. Our ability to raise capital through the sale of
securities may be limited by our inability to utilize a registration statement on Form S-3 to raise capital until June 2025 due to the late filing
of our 2023 Annual Report, the late filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and various rules of the NYSE American that place limits
on the number and dollar amount of securities that we may sell. To the extent that we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our
stockholders may experience significant dilution. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that may impact our
ability to conduct our business. If we fail to raise additional funds on acceptable terms, we may be unable to continue to maintain our
listing on the NYSE American. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we have to
restructure the company including a work force reduction, or initiate steps to cease operations or liquidate our assets.
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Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern.

We had an accumulated deficit of $267.7 million as of June 30, 2024 and a net loss of approximately $13.9 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2024. We have an accumulated deficit of $254.4 million as of December 31, 2023 and a net loss of approximately $46.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and have not generated significant revenue or positive cash flows from operations. We
expect to incur significant expenses and continued losses from operations for the foreseeable future and expect our cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments, including proceeds from the August 2024 public offering, to be sufficient to fund our operations
beyond December 2024 less our revenue increases from past historical revenue. Our estimates of our runway are dependent upon our
estimates of the ability of our customers to make timely payments of amounts owed to us which recently has not occurred. We expect our
expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we ramp up operations in our in-house bioanalytic, process
development and manufacturing facility in San Antonio, TX. Our unaudited financial statement for the three and six months ended June 30,
2024 and our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 were prepared under the assumption that we will
continue as a going concern; however, we have incurred significant losses from operations to date and we expect our expenses to increase
in connection with our ongoing activities. These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for one year
after the financial statements are issued. Our auditors also included an explanatory paragraph in their report on our financial statements as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 with respect to this uncertainty.  There can be no assurance that funding will be available on
acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all. The various ways that we could raise capital carry potential risks. Any additional sources of
financing will likely involve the issuance of our equity securities, which will have a dilutive effect on our stockholders. Any debt financing,
if available, may involve restrictive covenants that may impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise funds through collaborations
and licensing arrangements, we might be required to relinquish significant rights to our technologies or tests or grant licenses on terms that
are not favorable to us. If we do not succeed in raising additional funds on acceptable terms or at all, we may be unable to complete the
planned build out of our Kansas facility or develop any new product candidates that we acquire. As such, we cannot conclude that such
plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the date that the financial statements included in this Quarterly Report are filed
with the SEC and there is uncertainty regarding our ability to maintain liquidity sufficient to operate our business effectively, which raises
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition to requiring additional financing, in order to successfully continue our business we will need to expand our customer base
beyond the limited number of customers we currently have and there can be no assurance we will be successful in doing so. Though we
continue to expand our customer base, we remain dependent on a limited number of customers for a substantial majority of our
revenues. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we recognized $0.7 million and $1.3 million in CDMO revenue, all of which
was derived from three customers who each represented over 10% of the total recognized revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
revenue from two customers accounted for 85% of total revenue One customer accounted for 36% of our revenue for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, and is migrating to a larger CDMO for commercial manufacture of their product. The loss of, or a significant reduction
of business from, any of our primary customers will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operation unless we are able to replace such customers with other primary customers.
 
We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and determined that our disclosure controls and
procedures were ineffective as of June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 as well as of December 31, 2023.

We identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and determined that our disclosure controls and
procedures were ineffective as of June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 as well as of December 31, 2023. As a result, we restated our
quarterly financial results for the periods ending June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022. This material weakness continues to exist as of
June 30, 2024. In the future, we may identify additional material weaknesses or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal
control over financial reporting or adequate disclosure controls and procedures, which may result in material errors in our financial
statements or cause us to fail to meet our period reporting obligations.

Management and our Audit Committee, in consultation with BDO USA P.C. (“BDO”), our independent registered public accounting firm,
determined that our previously issued interim financial statements filed on the Form 10-Q, as of June 30, 2022, and for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2022 and three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 should
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no longer be relied upon. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
and for evaluating and reporting on the effectiveness of our system of internal control. Our internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. As a public
company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other rules that govern public companies. In particular, we are
required to certify our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires us to furnish annually a report by
management on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

Management has concluded that in light of the errors described above, a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting
existed and management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2022 and September 30,
2022 set forth in its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 had to be modified to
include a material weakness in its controls over financial reporting.  The material weakness identified relates to the ineffective design of
management review controls over the computation and disclosure of income taxes. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a
company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The existence of one or more material
weaknesses precludes a conclusion by management that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting
are effective. As a result of the material weakness, we believe that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective and our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective for the Non-Reliance Periods. In preparing our audited financial statements for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, we determined that the material weakness still exists in the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting and our disclosure controls were ineffective. Management is committed to the remediation of the material weakness.
Management is actively engaged in the implementation of remediation efforts, as described above to address the material weakness.

If we are not able to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or if we are unable to maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements or guarantee that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified
in SEC rules and forms. Any failure of our internal control over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures could cause our
investors to lose confidence in our publicly reported information, cause the market price of our stock to decline, expose us to sanctions or
investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, or impact our results of operations.

Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of the NYSE American could result in a de-listing of our common stock.

Our shares of common stock are currently listed on the NYSE American. On June 14, 2024, we received notice from the NYSE Regulation
that it had suspended trading of our common stock on the NYSE American and determined to commence proceedings to delist our common
stock from the NYSE American as a result of its determination that we are no longer suitable for listing pursuant to Section 1003(f)(v) of
the NYSE American Company Guide due to the low selling price of our common stock. Our common stock began trading on the OTC
Markets system on June 17, 2024. On July 17, 2024, we effected a reverse stock split at a ratio of 1-for-200, to increase the selling price of
our common stock in order to regain compliance with the requirements and policies of the NYSE American. On July 29, 2024, the NYSE
American notified us that it had withdrawn its delisting determination and the trading suspension of our common stock on the NYSE
American was lifted on August 2, 2024. The NYSE Regulation staff determined that our common stock was now trading above the
threshold of low selling price issues as further defined by Section 1003(f)(v) of the NYSE American Company Guide. However, there can
be no assurance that our increased stock price resulting from the 2024 Reverse Stock Split will remain at a price that will be sufficient in
order to meet any requirements and policies of the NYSE American or that our common stock will remain listed on the NYSE American. If
trading of our common stock does not recommence on the NYSE American or our common stock is not listed or approved for listing on
another exchange, we will not proceed with this offering.

In addition, on April 17, 2024, we received an official notice of noncompliance from NYSE Regulation stating that we were not in
compliance with the NYSE American continued listing standards under the timely filing criteria included in Section 1007 of the NYSE
American Company Guide due to the failure to timely file our 2023 Annual Report on Form
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10-K by the filing due date of April 16, 2024. On May 21, 2024, we received an official notice of noncompliance from NYSE Regulation
stating that we were not in compliance with NYSE American continued listing standards under the timely filing criteria included in Section
1007 of the NYSE American Company Guide due to the failure to timely file our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2024 by the filing due date of May 16, 2024. Upon the filing of the 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q we received a notice that we had cured the filing delinquency.
 
Even though the 2024 Reverse Stock Split increased the market price of our common stock, there can be no assurance that our
increased stock price will remain at a price that will be sufficient in order to meet any continued requirements and policies of the NYSE
American or that our common stock will remain listed on the NYSE American.
 
The trading of our common stock resumed on the NYSE American on August 2, 2024 after we effected a reverse stock split. There can be
no assurance that the increased stock price resulting from the 2024 Reverse Stock Split will be sufficient in order to continue to meet any
requirements and policies of the NYSE American or that our common stock will remain listed on the NYSE American.
 
Following the 2024 Reverse Stock Split, the resulting market price of our common stock may not attract new investors, including
institutional investors, and may not satisfy the investing requirements of those investors. Consequently, the trading liquidity of our
common stock may not improve.

 
Although we believe that a higher market price of our common stock may help generate greater or broader investor interest, there can be no
assurance that the 2024 Reverse Stock Split will result in a share price that will attract new investors, including institutional investors. In
addition, there can be no assurance that the market price of our common stock will satisfy the investing requirements of those investors. As
a result, the trading liquidity of our common stock may not necessarily improve.

ITEM 2.       UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

There were no sales of unregistered securities during the quarter ended June 30, 2024 that were not previously disclosed.

ITEM 3.       DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

Not Applicable.

ITEM 4.       MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not Applicable.

ITEM 5.       OTHER INFORMATION.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 6.       EXHIBITS.

The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index. The Exhibit Index is incorporated herein
by reference.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.      Description
3.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated as of March 20, 2013

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 6, 2013 (File No. 333-188365)).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of May 29, 2013 filed on May 30, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.6 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1/A with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 30, 2013 (File No. 333-188365)).

3.3 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of July 13, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 17, 2017 (File No. 001-35994)).

3.4 Certificate of Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of January 18, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 19, 2018 (File No. 001-35994)).

3.5 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of March 20, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8 K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 23, 2020 (File No. 001-35994)).

3.6 Certificate of Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of December 11, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 10, 2020 (File No. 001-35994)).

3.7 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Heat Biologics, Inc. dated
as of April 28, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 3, 2022 (File No. 001-35994)).

3.8 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated as of February 5, 2024
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 6, 2024 (File No. 001-35994)).

3.9 Certificate of Amendment of the Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated as of July 16, 2024
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 18, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

3.10 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated May 3, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 3, 2022 (File No. 001-35994)).

4.1 Convertible Promissory Note(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 30, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

4.2 Amendment No. 7 to Rights Agreement(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 13, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

4.3 Non-convertible Promissory Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

4.4 Amended and Restated Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

4.5 Form of May 2024 Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

4.6 Form of May 2024 Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 16, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335013000103/heat_ex3z5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335013000103/heat_ex3z5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335013000237/heat_ex3z6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335013000237/heat_ex3z6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335017000845/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335017000845/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335018000059/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335018000059/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020000232/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020000232/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020001092/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335020001092/htbx_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000175/ex3x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000175/ex3x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001071/ex3x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001071/ex3x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000155335022000385/nhwk_ex3z2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000145/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000145/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000367/ex4x8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000367/ex4x8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000635/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000635/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000635/ex4x2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000635/ex4x2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000767/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000767/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000767/ex4x2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324000767/ex4x2.htm
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Exhibit No.      Description
4.7 Amendment dated July 16, 2024 to promissory note dated May 1, 2024(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))
10.1 Amendment No. 5 to 2018 Stock Incentive Plan(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form

8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18, 2024 (File No. 001-35994))
10.2 Note Cancellation and Amendment to Asset   and Equity Interests Purchase Agreement(incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 31, 2024
(File No. 001-35994))

31.1* Certification of Jeffrey Wolf, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a 14(a) or15d 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification of William Ostrander, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a
14(a) or15d 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

32.1* Certification of Jeffrey Wolf, Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2* Certification of William Ostrander, Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained

in Exhibits 101).

* Filed herewith.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001071/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001071/ex4x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001071/ex10x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001071/ex10x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001136/ex10x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1476963/000107997324001136/ex10x1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex31d1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex31d1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex31d2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex31d2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex32d1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex32d1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex32d2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/scorpiusbiologics/sec/0001558370-24-012376/for_pdf/scpx-20240630xex32d2.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SCORPIUS HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: August 19, 2024 By:  /s/ Jeffrey A. Wolf
Jeffrey A. Wolf
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 19, 2024 By: /s/ William Ostrander
William Ostrander
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey Wolf, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Scorpius Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 19, 2024 By: /s/ Jeffrey Wolf
    Name: Jeffrey Wolf
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
    (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William Ostrander, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Scorpius Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 19, 2024 By: /s/ William Ostrander
    Name: William Ostrander
    Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey Wolf, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of Scorpius Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

  1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 (the “Form 10-Q”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

  2. The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company for the periods presented.

Date: August 19, 2024 By: /s/ Jeffrey Wolf
    Name: Jeffrey Wolf
    Title: Chief Executive Officer
    (Principal Executive Officer)

une



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William Ostrander, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) of Scorpius Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”),
do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:

  1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 (the “Form 10-Q”) fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
  2. The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of

operations of the Company for the periods presented.

Date: August 19, 2024 By: /s/ William Ostrander
    Name: William Ostrander
    Title: Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)


